IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Supreme Court Cause No. DA 25-0076

Amber Rose D’Hooge,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

Cincinnati Insurance Company,

Defendant and Appellee.

On Appeal from the Fourth Judicial District Court, Missoula County

DV-32-2023-870

The Honorable Robert L. Deschamps, III

APPELLANT’S OPENING BRIEF

Appearances:

Lincoln Palmer
Rex Palmer
Attorneys Inc., P.C.
301 W. Spruce St.
Missoula, MT 59802
Telephone: 406-728-4514
Facsimile: 406-728-5601
Email: lpalmer@attorneysincpc.com
firm@attorneysincpc.com
Attorneys for Appellant Amber D’Hooge

Calvin J. Stacey
Morgan M. Sorena
Stacey and Funyak Law Firm
The Grand Building
100 North 27th Street, Suite 700

ISSUES

- I. Did the District Court err when it ruled: “the common law in Montana . . . provide[s] that a third-party claimant cannot bring any cause of action other than for bad faith or violation of the UTPA against an insurer”?

- II. Cincinnati Insurance accepted liability for Amber’s slip and fall claim and told Amber to stop gathering evidence. The adjuster agreed that her acceptance email meant “there would be payments for pain and suffering” and testified: payments for “all” “general damages and special damages” were “included” “in the acceptance of liability.” The District Court understood: “that’s what [Cincinnati] said. We’re accepting liability . . . and you don’t have to investigate it any further because we’re going to pay . . . the plaintiff took them at their word . . . I’m having a real hard time accepting . . . your [(Cincinnati’s)] argument -- that some somehow or another the plaintiff now, with their hands tied behind their back by your client, is responsible to . . . go out and prove a case. . . . I think you’re estopped. I really do.” The District Court ruled in Amber’s favor.

Did the court err by later reversing its summary judgment ruling for Amber, and ruling that even if Amber’s causes of action are permissible, Cincinnati is entitled to summary judgment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff and Appellant Amber D’Hooge slipped and fell on December 7, 2020, at a Missoula Tire Rama, breaking her leg.

Amber claimed to Tire Rama’s insurer, Defendant and Appellee Cincinnati Insurance, that Tire Rama negligently caused her fall. Amber offered to gather any and all evidence required to prove Tire Rama’s negligence, like the nearby security camera footage.

Cincinnati’s Senior Claims Specialist responded by emailing Amber:

I do not need you to do anything further to gather information to support your claim.

We are accepting liability for your claim.

...

Cheryl Lee

Amber followed this instruction, and gathered no evidence to support her claim that Tire Rama negligently injured her.

Later, the Cincinnati adjuster who accepted liability for the slip and fall testified that her acceptance of liability was meant to include payments to Amber for all Amber’s special and general damages, including pain and suffering.

In 2023, Amber sued Tire Rama, alleging liability was not at issue. Tire Rama disputed liability, claiming Amber was running when she fell.

But, three years after the fall, the evidence proving Tire Rama’s negligence

was lost, destroyed, and forgotten.

Cincinnati intervened as a party defendant. Amber amended her Complaint, claiming Cincinnati was directly liable for her slip and fall damages.

Amber sought partial summary judgment against Cincinnati on liability. Cincinnati did not dispute Amber's claim that the undisputed facts prove the elements of contract formation and promissory estoppel.

At oral argument, the court granted Amber's motion. Relying on this oral ruling, Amber proceeded to settle with Tire Rama.

Thereafter, ruling on new arguments Cincinnati had not raised in opposition to Amber's motion, the court reversed itself, granting Cincinnati's motion for summary judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Amber's broken leg.

Plaintiff/Appellant Amber slipped and fell on December 7, 2020, in the Tire Rama north parking lot on South Street in Missoula, Montana. Dkt. 22.1 at 1-3; App. p. 32, Dep. D'Hooze 14:6-8. The south and side parking lots were dry, and there had been no substantial precipitation during the prior eighteen days, so Amber expected no ice in the north parking lot. Dkt. 22.1 at 2.

Tire Rama employees, however, knew they needed to "walk very carefully" in the north parking lot because they knew it was usually very icy and slippery in

the wintertime. App. p. 46, Dep. White 75:2-10. On December 7, 2020, Tire Rama did not apply ice melter in the north parking lot prior to Amber's fall. App. p. 36, 88:12-17. Tire Rama states that it did not want customers to go into the north parking lot, but Tire Rama did not warn customers not to walk in the north parking lot, did not warn customers there was ice, and did not warn customers to walk carefully in the north parking lot. App. p. 42-43, 22:3-23:23.

Amber's fall broke her leg and she later developed Complex Regional Pain Syndrome, leaving her with permanent, excruciating pain, among many other symptoms. App. p. 33, 32:9-18; App. p. 49.

After her fibula broke, Amber was bleeding, and suffering shock and severe pain. Broken leg notwithstanding, Tire Rama left Amber on the ground, outside in the December cold, for approximately an hour. Tire Rama refused to assist her and her four-year-old, despite Amber's repeated requests for assistance (phone calls to store/calling out to workers). App. p. 37, 92:8-23. A Tire Rama employee then parked her car two parking spots away from her, even though there was an open spot in front of her, and handed Amber her keys while she was on the ground. *Id.*

Amber asked Tire Rama employees to help her to her car. *Id.* The employees refused. *Id.* Receiving no help from the employees, Amber asked for a broom to use as a crutch. Tire Rama testifies both that: 1) it told Amber it did not have a broom or anything like it; and 2) in actuality, it does have a broom in its shop. App. pp. 41, 47, 10:11-14, 92:14-93:15.

Next, Amber's son's babysitter arrived to take Amber to emergent care. She claims that when she arrived, Tire Rama would not allow her to park in its parking lot. *See* App. p. 45, 56:11-15. When Amber asked Tire Rama to complete an incident report, Tire Rama refused. App. p. 40, 127:9-13. The manager also refused to identify Tire Rama's insurer. *See id.* 127:5-8.

Amber's retained experts, and her treating doctors, conclude that Amber will suffer severe, life-altering symptoms for the rest of her life as a result of her fall. *See* App. p. 50-54. Even Cincinnati's expert agrees that Amber's current symptoms are likely permanent. App. p. 52-53, 112:23-113:17. Amber was forced to give up her career and life passion: yoga and fitness instructing. App. p. 38-39, 110:19-111:4. Amber's experts also conclude that as a result of the fall, the present value of Amber's lost earning capacity is between \$687,885 and \$1,139,089, while the present value of Amber's necessary future care and accommodations is between \$929,869 and \$1,340,598. App. p. 50-54.

II. Cincinnati convinces Amber not to gather evidence to support her claim, and accepts liability.

Tire Rama Corporate directed Amber to its insurer, Defendant/Appellee, Cincinnati Insurance. Amber had heard that an insurer in a situation like hers must pay the medical bills, so she asked Cincinnati to pay for her emergent care.

Cincinnati paid for Amber's emergent care incurred December 7. Cincinnati's payment for Amber's emergent care was not accompanied by any promise or

contract; therefore, the payment did not in any way bind Cincinnati to any future payments, or to liability.

On December 22, 2020, Cincinnati called Amber and discussed her slip and fall claim. Ex. A to Dkt. 14. On December 22, and the next day, Amber described her fall and provided her reasoning supporting her contention that Tire Rama was responsible for her fall. *Id.*

Amber then told Cincinnati:

Please let me know if you need any additional information to document liability. This was very clear error on Tire Rama's part and I am happy to provide anything you need to clearly document this. If you are missing something you need, just let me know. . . . Tire Rama told me they 'do not do incident reports' when I asked them to complete one.

Id. Amber offered to put Cincinnati in touch with a witness, and said, "I am also happy to gather photographs from the other businesses or the traffic light around Tire Rama that day" *Id.*

In a separate communication, Amber stated: "I am happy to get any other photographs from surrounding area of Tire Rama that would be helpful." *Id.*

Five days later, Cincinnati emailed Amber, stating:

Subject: RE: claim #3662499 slip/fall

Hi Amber,

I do not need you to do anything further to gather information to support your claim.

We are accepting liability for your claim.

...

Cheryl Lee, CPCU/AIC

Senior Claims Specialist

The Cincinnati Insurance Companies

Id. at 25.

III. Amber’s futile attempts to retrospectively marshal evidence supporting her slip and fall claim.

After Cincinnati’s acceptance and instructions, Amber “changed [her] plans.” Ex. B to Dkt. 14. She “had been planning to gather all necessary evidence to prove that Tire Rama was liable for [her] slip and fall.” *Id.* She “had intended to collect security camera footage from nearby, take pictures and video, obtain written statements from all witnesses (including the food truck worker [she] had purchased food from), collect other evidence, and retain an attorney if necessary.” *Id.* She even spoke to multiple attorneys in December 2020 about potential representation, and intended to retain one if Cincinnati denied the claim. *Id.* Instead, she “followed [Cincinnati’s] instruction and did not gather any evidence to support [her] claim that Tire Rama negligently caused [her] slip and fall.” *Id.*

In April 2021, four months later, Cincinnati switched adjusters on the claim. Amber emailed: “Hi Jewlet, Here is a copy of response from Cheryl accepting liability of the claim.” Ex. A to Dkt 14.

The second adjuster confirmed: “I’m not questioning liability. . . .” *Id.*

In December 2021, a year after the fall, Amber engaged in unrepresented negotiations with Cincinnati for global settlement, including general damages. During those negotiations, Amber wrote to Cincinnati that “Cincinnati Insurance

has already accepted full liability” *Id.* In response, Cincinnati never told Amber that she misunderstood the agreement, or that Cincinnati’s acceptance of her slip and fall claim was limited to *Ridley* payments, or that she would be required to prove Tire Rama’s negligence.

After settlement negotiations failed, Amber filed her Complaint against Tire Rama in August 2023, alleging that liability was not at issue. Dkt. 1. Tire Rama disputed liability and, conveniently, found a new witness. Tire Rama’s new witness was an employee with a brand new story. Despite never telling anyone this information in 2020, 2021, 2022, or 2023, Tire Rama’s employee now claimed that he had seen Amber running when she fell. App. p. 55-56.

Amber vehemently disputed the employee’s fabrication¹; she was walking when she fell. App. p. 34-35, 71:24-72:6. The undersigned attempted to marshal evidence to prove Tire Rama’s liability, and to prove Amber was not running. But it was impossible to do so three years after the fall.

First, the nearby security camera footage which would have shown portions of the south and side parking lots, and would have shown Amber walking instead of running, had been destroyed long ago. Ex. C to Dkt. 14.

Next, a key eyewitness in the parking lot when she fell, who could have

¹ The employee also claimed: Amber was alone, and the manager assisted Amber immediately after she fell. App. p. 55-56. Neither is true. In actuality, Amber’s four-year-old was with her, holding her hand, and also fell. App. p. 34-35, 71:24-72:6. Further, the manager did not speak with Amber until nearly an hour later; he claims he did not even know Amber fell until she called the store. App. p. 44, 35:20-21.

testified that Amber was not running, now could not remember a thing about that day. Ex. D to Dkt. 14.

Further, Tire Rama had substantially altered the exact area of Amber's fall by removing equipment that had been affixed to the ground, right near her fall. Ex.s B, E-F to Dkt. 14. This spoliation of evidence made it impossible for an expert to analyze the area in its original condition, as it was in December 2020.

As the undersigned was drafting a separate Complaint to file against Cincinnati directly, Cincinnati intervened in the instant lawsuit as a party defendant. Amber moved the court for leave to Amend her Complaint. Dkt. 10, 12.

Cincinnati objected, arguing that any amendment would be futile because there were no viable causes of action against Cincinnati. The court held that Amber's causes of action against Cincinnati were viable. Dkt. 22. Amber amended her Complaint to claim against Cincinnati contract formation, promissory estoppel, equitable estoppel, spoliation, and other causes of action, as well as "each and every claim and cause of action supported by the facts alleged in this Complaint." Dkt. 22.1 at 12-13.

IV. The adjuster testifies that her acceptance of liability was meant to include payments to Amber for all Amber's special and general damages, including pain and suffering.

Cincinnati resisted providing the adjuster's (now a former employee) contact information in discovery. Cincinnati even pretended it did not know who "Adjuster Cheryl" was. Cincinnati finally provided the information, instructing Amber's

counsel not to contact her. When Amber's counsel reached out, Adjuster Cheryl declined to speak with Amber's counsel. In hindsight, it was unsurprising that Cincinnati went to such great lengths to prevent the undersigned from speaking with her. At deposition, Adjuster Cheryl, who had accepted liability for the slip and fall, testified that her acceptance of liability was meant to include payments to Amber for all Amber's special and general damages, including pain and suffering. Dkt. 58 at 11.

Ex. A to Pl.'s Resp. Br.

D'HOOGHE v. THE TIRE GUYS INC, et al. 6/14/2024 CHERYL LEE

Page 35

8 Q. For Exhibit 19, what in here is telling
9 Amber that your acceptance of liability is limited
10 to medical and wage loss?
11 A. I don't understand the question.
12 Q. Okay. What words in this email are
13 conveying to Amber that your acceptance of
14 liability is not for the entire claim, but rather
15 for medical and wage loss only?
16 A. I don't know what other benefits there
17 would be.
18 Q. Well, there would be payments for pain
19 and suffering.
20 A. Oh, no, at this point that would be
21 included. I mean, there's general damages and
22 special damages, so that would've all been
23 included.
24 Q. In the acceptance of liability?
25 A. Correct.

V. Cincinnati prepares to contest the amount of Amber's slip and fall damages at trial.

Once it intervened, Cincinnati fully embraced its status as a party defendant who would be defending a damages claim at trial. It pursued substantial discovery into Amber's claims, deposing eight of Amber's witnesses. It also disclosed multiple experts of its own, specifically to contest Amber's harms and losses. Cincinnati relentlessly pursued discovery production from Amber, requiring Amber to disclose more than 8,900 pages of documents.

When Amber sought production of Cincinnati's claim file, however, Cincinnati flatly refused. Amber chose not to compel production of the file because, as discussed below, Cincinnati did not dispute that the elements of Amber's claims were met. Amber, thus, did not need the claims file to prove Cincinnati's intention to contract with her.

When Amber sought a Rule 30(b)(6) deposition of Cincinnati, Cincinnati ignored Amber's request for months, later indicated the deposition would have to occur after discovery closed, then filed a motion for protective order as soon as Amber noticed the deposition.

VI. Cincinnati does not dispute Amber's contention that the elements of promissory estoppel and contract formation are met.

Amber advised the District Court that her negligence claim against Tire Rama was compromised, and sought partial summary judgment against Cincinnati as to liability for her slip and fall damages. Dkt. 13, 14. In its Response Brief,

Cincinnati did not dispute Amber’s contention that the undisputed facts proved the elements of contract formation and promissory estoppel. Instead, it argued Amber’s claims were too early, or were barred. Dkt. 18 at 4.

Amber’s Reply Brief read: “Importantly, Cincinnati does not contest Amber’s assertion that all the elements of promissory estoppel are established. . . . Likewise Cincinnati does not contest that all the elements of contract formation have been met.” Dkt. 20 at 3 (underline in original).

At oral argument seven months later, Amber emphasized: “Cincinnati . . . does not contest that the undisputed material facts prove the elements of those claims.” Oral Arg. Tr. 8:3-5, July 26, 2024.

When Cincinnati responded at oral argument, it did not dispute 1) Amber’s claim that the elements of promissory estoppel and contract formation were met by the undisputed facts; and 2) Amber’s claim that Cincinnati had waived that argument.

The court later acknowledged this, holding that “[n]either Defendant [Cincinnati or Tire Rama] specifically addressed Amber’s arguments regarding promissory estoppel [or] breach of contract.” Dkt. 64 at 3; Dkt. 77 at 6.

At oral argument, the court told defense counsel:

Well, why did your client tell the plaintiff not to worry about it? We’re going to pay. Don’t worry about investigation. Don’t worry about going out and rounding up witnesses. Don’t look for any videos of the event. Don’t have any experts come and check out the scene or things of that nature. You know, that’s what they said. We’re

accepting liability, which -- and you don't have to investigate it any further because we're going to pay. That's what they said.

. . .
you're missing the point, Mr. Stacey. Your client basically told the plaintiff, Don't worry about it. You know, we're going to pay whatever it is, so just rest easy. Don't go out and do any investigation. . . . And so the plaintiff took them at their word and is now arguing that your client is estopped from making the very claim you're making . . . And I'm having a real hard time accepting . . . your argument -- that some somehow or another the plaintiff now, with their hands tied behind their back by your client, is responsible to somehow or another go out and prove a case . . . I think you're estopped. I really do.

Oral Arg. Tr. 17:4-12, 22:1-14, July 26, 2024.

VII. The District Court rules that Cincinnati is liable for Amber's slip and fall damages as a matter of law.

The court held: "at this time, I am going to grant [Amber's] motion for partial summary judgment on liability for Cincinnati. I think that they are estopped. I think that it's just -- it's totally unfair to require the plaintiff at this point to have to come and prove, you know, the liability issue for their normal damages." *Id.* 38:1-6. The court indicated there would be a trial to "determin[e] damages." *Id.* 36:25-37:1.

Later, at mediation, an excess insurer of Tire Rama refused to even participate, insisting that it could never be liable to pay any damages because Cincinnati had accepted liability and was therefore liable.

Acting in complete reliance on the court's oral ruling granting her Motion for Summary Judgment against Cincinnati, Amber proceeded to settle with Tire Rama. *See* Dkt. 70. Amber settled her emotional distress and punitive damage

claims against Tire Rama for how it treated her after the fall. Amber also released any claim she had against Tire Rama for premises liability. Amber specifically reserved all her claims against Cincinnati for all of her slip and fall damages.

The Settlement Release stated: “Releasor reserves all her claims against Cincinnati Insurance Company.” Further, as a part of the settlement with Tire Rama, Cincinnati stipulated: “Cincinnati Insurance agrees that the release of TireRama is not a release of Plaintiff’s reserved claims (reserved claims are for the slip and fall and resultant damages . . .) against it, and the fact that a release has been given to TireRama is not a defense to Plaintiff’s reserved claims.” App. p. 57-58.

VIII. After the District Court’s summary judgment ruling for Amber, and after discovery closes, Cincinnati advances new arguments.

Extensive discovery occurred for a total of eight months and three weeks. Four days after discovery closed, and well after the court’s bench ruling granting Amber’s Motion for Summary Judgment, Cincinnati argued for the first time that the elements of Amber’s claims were not met. Dkt. 36. Astonishingly, Cincinnati represented: “it is undisputed that D’Hooge cannot meet any of the elements of her claims against Cincinnati.” Dkt. 45 at 19.

Cincinnati also argued for the first time that the 2023 UTPA (§ 33-18-242(4)) barred Amber’s claims. Dkt. 45 at 2. Amber promptly moved to strike all of Cincinnati’s new arguments. Dkt. 39, 50.

IX. The District Court rules that the 2023 UTPA bars Amber’s claims, then rules that it was wrong—the 2023 UTPA cannot bar Amber’s claims.

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