IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Supreme Court No. DA 25-0076

AMBER ROSE D'HOOGHE,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

CINCINNATI INSURANCE
COMPANY;

Defendant/Appellee.

**APPELLEE CINCINNATI
INSURANCE COMPANY'S
ANSWER BRIEF**

On Appeal From Montana Fourth Judicial District Court
County of Missoula - Cause No. DV 32-2023-870
The Honorable Robert L. Deschamps, III

Lincoln Palmer
Rex Palmer
Attorneys Inc., P.C.
301 W. Spruce St.
Missoula, MT 59802
Telephone: 406-728-4514
lpalmer@attorneysincpc.com
firm@attorneysincpc.com
Attorneys for Appellant

Calvin J. Stacey
Morgan M. Sorena
STACEY & FUNYAK
P.O. Box 1139
Billings, MT 59103-1139
Telephone: (406) 259-4545
cstacey@staceyfunyak.com

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

D'Hooge has not cited one single case in her brief that supports her position that D'Hooge, a third-party claimant, can somehow bring a cause of action under Montana law directly against Cincinnati for personal injury damages allegedly caused by Cincinnati's insured's Tire Rama in lieu of litigating her negligence claims against the alleged tortfeasor, Tire Rama. That is because the law is that a third-party claimant cannot bring a cause of action directly against a carrier other

than for claims related to the carrier's claims handling practices, and it can only do so *after* the underlying claim against the insured tortfeasor is resolved. D'Hooge refuses to accept this as the law.

As for D'Hooge's numerous "claims" or "theories of recovery" referred to in her Brief, the District Court not only addressed them but also rejected each claim because they all ignore the basic concept that D'Hooge cannot bring her personal injury/premises liability/negligence cause of action against Cincinnati, not the party responsible for maintaining the parking lot at Tire Rama where she allegedly fell. The following issues, also addressed by the District Court, do not alter in any way the basic and fundamental rule that D'Hooge cannot seek damages against Cincinnati or for that matter any other person or party that did not owe her any duty to maintain the premises where she allegedly fell. D'Hooge ignores this undisputed fact and attempts to get around it by raising claims based upon agency theory, contract, promissory or equitable estoppel, spoliation, and others. Since D'Hooge has raised them, not only did the District Court address them but so does Cincinnati. Cincinnati takes the position that none of these attempts through these theories of recover alter the undisputed fact that Cincinnati did not owe D'Hooge a any duty to prevent her from falling in the Tire Rama parking lot in Missoula. All that Cincinnati did was to enter into a contract providing insurance coverage to Tire Rama with the further requirement to handle claims properly under Montana law

which D’Hooge agrees has been done correctly. Again, even though it is Cincinnati’s position that these “theories of recovery” asserted by D’Hooge lack merit without any discussion needed, Cincinnati will do as the District Court did and address these other “claims.”

2. Cincinnati Is Not an Agent of Tire Rama

Even if this Court were to entertain D’Hooge’s arguments which ignore decades of well-established law in Montana, her causes of action lack merit and are not supported by any evidence in the record and fail as a matter of law. The District Court correctly ruled so. To start, all of the “causes of action” D’Hooge attempted to bring against Cincinnati in her First Amended Complaint were premised upon her baseless presumption that Cincinnati is an agent of its insured, Tire Rama or alternatively that Tire Rama is an agent of its carrier Cincinnati. It is undisputed that this is not the case.

Actual agents are statutorily defined as persons who are “really employed by the principal.” § 28-10-103, MCA. An individual is an employee of another when that other has the right to control the details, methods, or means of accomplishing the individual’s work. *Butler v. Domin*, 200 MT 312, ¶ 29, 302 Mont. 452, 15 P.3d 1189. In this case, it is obvious that Cincinnati Insurance is not an actual agent of Tire Rama. Tire Rama does not employ Cincinnati Insurance

Company nor does it control anything about the way individuals working at Cincinnati accomplish their work. Actual agency is not present here.

Cincinnati is also not an ostensible agent of Tire Rama. Section 28-10-103, MCA, provides in relevant part:

An agency is ostensible when the [putative] principal intentionally or by want of ordinary care causes a third person to believe another to be [the putative principal's] agent who is not really employed by [it].

The acts of the principal, not the putative employee, are the focus of an ostensible agency inquiry. *Sunset Point Partn. v. Stuc-O-Flex Intl., Inc.*, 1998 MT 42, ¶ 22, 287 Mont. 388, 954 P.2d 1156. “[O]ur ostensible agency statute focus[es] on the action or inaction of the putative principal which caused the third person to believe an employment relationship existed, and the reasonableness of the third person's corresponding belief.” *Butler*, ¶ 39. There is no evidence that supports D’Hooge’s claim that she was led to believe, through the actions of Tire Rama, that Lee and Cincinnati were Tire Rama’s employees. It was clear from the beginning, on December 7, 2020, that Cincinnati – a separate entity – provided insurance for Tire Rama and that was it. D’Hooge knew this, as she immediately asked for Tire Rama’s insurance information on December 7, 2020 so she could file a claim. There is no evidence of ostensible agency and therefore the District Court was correct when it held there was no agency relationship between Cincinnati and its insured Tire Rama.

3. D’Hooge’s Promissory Estoppel, Equitable Estoppel, and Contract Arguments Fail Because D’Hooge Cannot Establish The Elements Of Any of Them

D’Hooge continuously argues that somehow, the facts here show that D’Hooge and Cincinnati entered into a contract or that she can somehow show the elements of promissory estoppel or equitable estoppel have been met. She cannot, and there is no merit to any allegation that she entered into a contract with Cincinnati.

First, as discussed above, there is no agency relationship between Cincinnati and Tire Rama therefore Cincinnati could not “bind” Tire Rama by accepting liability. *See Turner v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, 2012 MT 213, 366 Mont. 285, 291 P.3d 1082. Even if it could, though, D’Hooge cannot establish the first element of promissory estoppel. The Montana Supreme Court has held that to establish a prima facie claim for promissory estoppel, the party asserting promissory estoppel must establish the following four elements: (1) a promise clear and unambiguous in its terms; (2) reliance on the promise by the party to whom the promise is made; (3) reasonableness and foreseeability of the reliance; and (4) the party asserting the reliance must be injured by the reliance. *Turner v. Wells Fargo*, ¶ 24, citing *Keil v. Glacier Park*, 188 Mont. 455, 462, 614 P.2d 502 (1980). The court in *Keil* as well as in several other cases found that no clear and unambiguous promise was made where a general promise was made but the finer details of the agreement had

not been determined. *Keil* at 462. The same is true here and prevents a finding of promissory estoppel and/or negligence against Cincinnati.

In *Keil*, Mr. Sammons with Search and Rescue for Glacier County contacted Mr. Keil by telephone and asked Mr. Keil if he could provide a pump for the East Glacier water system. *Kiel* at 457. The parties discussed payment, but the contents of that conversation were in dispute. *Id.* The Keils delivered a pump to the site at East Glacier and again there was another conversation regarding payment that was in dispute during the litigation. *Id.* at 458. The pump was used for a number of days, and the Keils presented a proposed agreement for a rental rate which Glacier would pay for the pump, but Glacier objected to the terms of that agreement. *Id.* A written agreement between the parties was ultimately signed calling for a per hour rental payment as well as other terms regarding moving time, service of the pump, and purchase of the fuel for the pump. *Id.* at 459. When Glacier removed the Keil's pump earlier than the contract period in the Agreement, the Keils filed suit seeking damages from the alleged breach. *Id.* at 460-463. Glacier argued that there was a valid contract, through promissory estoppel, before execution of the written agreement based on the oral conversations that the two parties had, and the agreement they had before the written agreement should be honored.

The court in *Keil* held that, with respect to the first element of promissory estoppel, the "terms of the promise must be certain, as there can be no promissory

estoppel without a real promise.” *Id.* at 462. Further, the court held that “[p]romissory estoppel cannot be based on preliminary negotiations and discussions or an agreement to negotiate the terms of a contract.” *Id.* With respect to Glacier’s argument, the court held that the parties had “nothing more than an agreement to agree that was in the initial stages of the negotiation process” because the only certain term was that the Keils would provide the pump, and all other material terms of a rental contract were absent including the specific rental rate and who was to provide the fuel for the pump. *Id.* Any argument by Glacier that those preliminary discussions about the pump somehow met the elements of promissory estoppel was rejected by the court.

Here, D’Hooge received no terms to any purported “promise” or “agreement” from Cincinnati. Her claim for promissory estoppel is even more attenuated than the claims in *Keil* and *Laks*. D’Hooge received four words: “[w]e are accepting liability”, but these four words do not contemplate a clear, unambiguous promise with clear, definite, final terms and in fact is just Cincinnati complying with its duties under the UTPA in its claims handling. These four words could mean several things and do not discuss any additional terms. These four words – the entire basis for D’Hooge’s promissory estoppel claim – are ambiguous, unclear, and not sufficient to establish the first element of promissory estoppel. There was no representation that Cincinnati would substitute itself in place of its insured, Tire

Rama, and assume the duties that its insured may have had with respect to maintaining the premises where she allegedly fell and injured herself.

This Court has held similarly in many other cases. *See, e.g. Cotton v. Butte Sch. Dist. No. 1*, 1991 Mont. Dist. LEXIS at *1-2 (holding that an advertisement for a position was not a clear and unambiguous promise); *Keesun Partners v. Ferdig Oil Co.* (1991), 249 Mont. 331, 334-336, 816 P.2d 417 (the parties exchanged letters, had in-person conversations to discuss a wellhead gas purchase contract, had an oral conversation, agreed to some terms but since there were a number of terms that were not agreed upon, there was not a clear and unambiguous promise); *Payne Realty & House v. First Sec. Bank*, 256 Mont. 19, 28-30, 844 P.2d 90 (1992) (although the bank argued entered into a buy-sell agreement, signed the agreement, and the buyer insisted on an early closing, the factual record established a dispute as to whether or not the buy-sell agreement was binding or whether the parties had a clear and unambiguous agreement that could constitute the first element of promissory estoppel).

D'Hooge's brief is riddled with allegations that Cincinnati "ruined her claim against Tire Rama" by "convincing her to stop gathering evidence." This is a misleading and confusing argument and just a red herring. Cincinnati accepted liability pursuant to their obligations in handling claims so whether or not she "stopped gathering evidence" in support of her negligence claim is irrelevant.

Further, there is absolutely no evidence D’Hooge could have gathered to support her claim irrespective of Cincinnati’s actions. This directly relates to the fourth element of promissory estoppel because D’Hooge has no evidence to show she was somehow injured by relying on Ms. Lee’s email stating she was accepting liability. D’Hooge fell on December 7, 2020. It is undisputed that there were no witnesses and there was no surveillance footage of the incident. She fell in the back of the building of Tire Rama, away from any street lights or other surveillance footage. D’Hooge did not reach out to Cincinnati to advise them that she was going to “gather photographs from other businesses or the traffic light around Tire Rama that day showing it was not a snowy or icy day” until December 23, 2020 – two full weeks later. She already had photographs from the day of the incident. There were no business or traffic lights around Tire Rama that would have captured her fall, let alone stored any footage from that day for over two weeks. She was not harmed in Cincinnati telling her that it was accepting liability as there was no evidence to gather to bolster her claim. D’Hooge cannot establish the fourth element of promissory estoppel. *See Eiselein v. Mont. Bank* (1991), 250 Mont. 71, 80-81, 818 P.2d 365 (concurring opinion stating that the plaintiff’s promissory estoppel claim failed because the plaintiff had no evidence that she suffered detriment in reliance on the alleged promise by the bank).

For the same reasons, D’Hooge cannot establish an existing contract with Cincinnati, either. To be enforceable, a contract must contain four essential elements: 1) identifiable parties capable of contracting, 2) consent between those parties, 3) a lawful object, and 4) consideration. It is a well-established rule that there must be mutual assent or a meeting of the minds on all essential elements or terms to form a binding contract. *Jarussi v. Sandra L. Farber Trust*, 2019 MT 181, ¶ 17, 396 Mont., 488, 445 P.3d 1226. D’Hooge argues that, without a written contract or any terms set forth and agreed upon by D’Hooge and Cincinnati, Cincinnati still can be properly named as a defendant in her persona injury action based upon Tire Rama’s alleged negligence with a further request that a jury determine the amount of damages D’Hooge is entitled to recover from Cincinnati for her personal injuries. Apparently, according to D’Hooge, Cincinnati agreed to all this simply by uttering four words: “we are accepting liability” which were stated pursuant to its obligations for claims handling. This argument has no merit.

There is no contract setting forth the terms of the contract yet D’Hooge contends that a contract apparently exists and as a result, with no citation to any law and absolutely contrary to long established Montana law that a third-party claimant can pursue a claims handling claim against an insurance carrier but no other cause of action, D’Hooge persists in her claims that Cincinnati made a contract with her whereby it agreed to assume the duties its insured owed to her to maintain its

property. The District Court correctly found no evidence of any existing contract for the same reasons outlined above regarding the failure of D’Hooge’s promissory estoppel claim, namely that she cannot meet a single element of a contract claim. *See Keesun Partners v. Ferdig Oil Co.*, 249 Mont. 331, 337, 816 P.2d 417, 421 (1991) (citation omitted) (holding that “the purported contract fails for lack of consent” because the record indicated that “the parties were involved in an ongoing negotiation process regarding many essential terms of the contract and no finalized agreement was ever reached”).

D’Hooge alleges that Cincinnati did not move for summary judgment on this “contract formation” issue and therefore it must still proceed to trial. This is not reality for several reasons. First, Cincinnati briefed this issue and presented arguments on it in its Reply Brief in Support of Summary Judgment. Like Cincinnati put in its Reply Brief, D’Hooge never even pled a breach of contract cause of action in her Complaints yet her position is, apparently, that Cincinnati was required to specifically point out each and every cause of action that D’Hooge might at some point in her lifetime bring against Cincinnati when she feels like doing so. She contends that if Cincinnati does not do so, then it has waived those arguments and D’Hooge gets to proceed to trial on whatever claims she feels like arguing at the time. This is not the way it works. Even if there was a contract, D’Hooge never even brought a breach of contract cause of action against Cincinnati. She alleged

that Cincinnati “contracted to be liable for Plaintiff’s harms and losses” and that is it. Cincinnati argued vehemently against this allegation on multiple grounds and on multiple occasions, including in its Reply Brief in Support of Summary Judgment. The undisputed facts show she has no contract claim. She does not have any facts to support a contract was formed, whether orally, via promissory estoppel, or any other way, and she definitely has no facts to support a breach of any contract that may have been formed. Her arguments all fail, just like the District Court held.

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